**RECEIVED**

JAN 31 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

---

Case No. 2013-001683

---

Richland County Assessor,

Respondent,

v.

James M. Hull, d/b/a Hull Storey Gibson  
Companies, LLC,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Matthew W. Matson  
*Pro Hac Vice*  
Ga Bar No. 812044  
1190 Interstate Parkway  
Augusta, Georgia 30909  
(706)434-1743  
mmatson@hullstoreygibson.com

Timothy E. Madden, SC Bar No. 11786  
Tim.madden@nelsonmullins.com  
104 South Main Street / Ninth Floor  
P.O. Box 10084 (29603-0084)  
Greenville, SC 29601

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Administrative Law Court fail to value the subject property in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. §12-37-930 when it did not properly consider the purchase price of the subject property when determining its fair market value?
2. Did the Administrative Law Court improperly apply the burden of proof and legal presumptions in determining the subject property's fair market value when it stated that the Assessor's valuation is presumed correct and when it did not give proper weight to the sales price of the property in contravention of law?
3. Did the Administrative Law Court's valuation of the subject property violate the Constitutional requirements for equal and uniform assessments?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arose from a reappraisal of the subject property (described more particularly herein) by the Richland County Assessor ("Assessor") for the taxable year 2010. The Respondent valued the two parcels at \$3,928,700 and \$674,300, respectively. James M. Hull d/b/a Hull Storey Gibson Companies, LLC ("Taxpayer") challenged the assessment and filed the appropriate Application for Review with Assessor. After review, Assessor changed the larger parcel's assessment from \$3,928,700 to \$3,571,500, while the smaller parcel's assessment did not change. Taxpayer properly appealed the valuation to the Richland County Board of Assessment Appeals ("Board") within the statutory period and a hearing was set for the matter.

On July 10, 2012, the Board conducted a hearing in which Taxpayer was represented by Matthew Matson and Assessor was represented by Mark Cheslak. After the hearing, the Board's decision of July 18, 2012, reduced Assessor's proffered value for the two parcels to \$1,975,000. The Board's decision was based on the price that Taxpayer paid for the properties.

Assessor filed its intent to appeal the Board's decision to the Administrative Law Court of South Carolina with an appeal letter dated July 23, 2012, signed by John A. Cloyd, Richland County Assessor.

On January 9, 2013, the Administrative Law Court held a contested case hearing, presided over by the Honorable Shirley C. Robinson. R.E. Hanna, III and Matthew W. Matson represented Taxpayer and Malane S. Pike represented Assessor. After proposed orders and rebuttal briefs were submitted, the Court ruled on the matter by way of its

Final Order and Decision dated July 10, 2013. The Court overturned the Board's decision and reinstated Assessor's valuation of the properties.

From the Court's Final Order and Decision, Petitioner took this appeal by filing its Notice of Appeal on July 31, 2013.

### FACTS

SC Bypass, LLC ("Bypass") is a Georgia limited liability company managed by Taxpayer. (R. p. 94) At all times relevant to the instant matter, Bypass owned the properties which are located at or near the 2800 Block of Clemson Road and referred to as tax parcels R17400-05-34 ("Parcel 34") and R17400-05-44 ("Parcel 44") (collectively "subject property"). Parcel 34 consists of approximately 23.81 acres of vacant, cleared land located off of Clemson Road. Parcel 44 is an adjacent outparcel made up of approximately 1.72 acres located at 2820 Clemson Road. Bypass acquired both parcels in a single transfer through a Warranty Deed, dated September 3, 2009, that can be found in the Richland County Real Estate Office in Book 1553, Page 2782.

Because the Administrative Law Court specifically found that the subject property's sales price was not indicative of its fair market value, it is important to look at the circumstances surrounding the sale. On March 31, 2009, Taxpayer, through its agents, sent a letter of intent to purchase the subject property to Crescent Resources, LLC ("Crescent"), the former owner of the subject property. (R. pp. 96-97) The letter conveyed an offer to purchase the property for \$1,200,000 signed by Wayne Grovenstein (of Hull Storey Gibson Companies, LLC or "HSG"). (R. pp. 97, 284-285) The letter was returned by Crescent's Elizabeth McMillan on May 6, 2009, with a counteroffer of \$1,500,000. (R. pp. 97-98) Barry Storey (of HSG) signed McMillan's counteroffer on

May 8, 2009, indicating that the parties had come to an agreement as to the purchase/sale of the property. (R. pp. 97-98, 284-285)

On May 14, 2009, Crescent's President, Commercial Division, Patrick Henry, transmitted a letter attempting to revoke the agreement. (R. pp. 101-102, 286) The next day, a letter from Mr. Henry requested a final and best offer from Petitioner "due to significant interest in the site." (R. pp. 102-103, 288-289) Subsequently, Crescent filed a voluntary Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Western District of Texas in June 2009. (R. pp. 104, 290)

The subject property was sold at an auction pursuant to the Bankruptcy Rules. (R. pp. 107, 291-292) The starting bid was \$1,775,000, with bids increasing by \$50,000. (R. pp. 106-107) Taxpayer was the highest bidder and purchased the subject property for \$1,975,000, closing on September 3, 2009. (R. p. 106) The auction sale yielded a price \$475,000, or 31.6%, higher than the previously negotiated agreement between Crescent, a company with over \$1 billion in assets, and Taxpayer.

There were no other similar properties bought/sold in the Richland County area in 2009 or 2010 according to Assessor's witnesses.

#### ARGUMENTS

**I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT'S FINAL ORDER AND DECISION SHOULD BE OVERTURNED BECAUSE OF ITS RELIANCE ON RICHLAND COUNTY ASSESSOR'S ARBITRARY VALUATION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY, WHICH DOES NOT COMPORT WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF SOUTH CAROLINA LAW**

"All property must be valued for taxation at its true value in money which in all cases is the price which the property would bring following reasonable exposure to the market, where both the seller and the buyer are willing, are not under compulsion, and are

reasonably well informed of the uses and purposes for which it is adapted and for which it is capable of being used.” S.C. Code Ann. §12-37-930 (2012). There is no valid distinction between market value for sales purposes and market value for taxation purposes under the Code. *S.C. Tax Comm’n. v. S.C. Tax Bd. of Rev.*, 287 S.C. 415, 339 S.E.2d 131 (S.C. Ct. App. 1985).

Assessor’s chief witness, Mark Cheslak, correctly stated that the job of an appraiser is to estimate the price at which the property would change hands in an arms length sale. (R. p. 62)

Q: Okay. And if you had purchasers on a market—on the open market, they could put different values on a property; isn’t that correct?

A: Yes.

Q: And as an appraiser, aren’t you trying to estimate what the purchaser would purchase the price for?

A: Correct.

Q: And here we have that value, right?

A: You mean Mr. Hull’s property, yes.

Q: Right. And the subject prop---we have the actual sales price, right?

A: Correct.

Q: And the purpose of an appraisal is to estimate that sales price, correct?

A: Estimate a value. It’s an estimate of value is what the appraisal does.

(R. p. 62, lines 5-21)

**A. Assessor’s assessment failed to properly consider the actual, bona fide sale of the subject property in its valuation.**

**1. Assessor did not investigate the circumstances of the sale and ignored the facts when presented by Taxpayer.**

Assessor did not present evidence refuting that the sale was actual, voluntary, and bona fide. However, all of the evidence presented by Taxpayer regarding the sale of the property established that the sale was actual, voluntary, and bona fide. Testimony of Taxpayer's witness, Wayne Grovenstein, established that the §12-37-930 factors were present through reasonable exposure to the market and the parties were willing. (R. pp. 112-113) Mr. Grovenstein detailed the extensive negotiations which took place over a number of months. (R. pp. 96-113) He further testified that the bankruptcy gave an added level of protection to the sale as the seller could decide not to sell. (R. p. 113)

All of the elements of S.C. Code Ann. §12-37-930 (2013) were met in this sale: "...reasonable exposure to the market, where both the seller and the buyer are willing, are not under compulsion, and are reasonably well informed of the uses and purposes for which it is adapted and for which it is capable of being used." Cheslak agreed that these elements were met in his testimony, as follows:

Mr. Matson: Do you believe that this property had a reasonable exposure to the market since it was purchased back in 2005?

Mr. Cheslak: Yes.

Q: And the outparcels had been selling going back to 2006?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. Do you have any reason to believe that the seller and buyer were not reasonably well informed of the uses of the property?

A: I believe they were well informed of the uses of the property.

Q: And do you believe that the seller and buyer were willing in this case? Do you have reason to believe that they weren't?

A: No.

(R. p. 62, line 22-p. 63, line 12)

The statute requires that all property be valued at the price it would bring when all of those conditions are met. *Id.*

Cheslak stated his role in determining the fair market value, but he misapplied the law. He reviewed the deed which showed the transfer of interest of the subject properties, so he not only knew what the property would bring, but what the property did bring "after reasonable exposure to the market, where both the seller and the buyer are willing, are not under compulsion, and are reasonably well informed of the uses and purposes for which it is adapted and for which it is capable of being used." *Id.* The South Carolina statute for fair market value mandates that the subject property be valued at the price that it sold for, \$1,975,000, because all of the other requirements of the law were met. *Id.*

Instead of determining if the sale represented fair market value, Assessor assumed that the price was below market value.

Mr. Matson: And under South Carolina law, aren't you required to consider arms length transaction when you're appraising a property?

Mr. Cheslak: I did. I considered them, the purchase price.

Q: You considered it?

A: Yes.

Q: But you also testified that there were no sales in 2009; is that correct?

A: None that are comparable to the subject.

Q: I think – well, you said there were no sales in 2009, but this property was sold in 2009, was it not?

A: Yes. Well, if you include that, that sale took place in 2009, yes.

Q: But it was lower than the value you thought it should have been, correct?

A: It didn't stand up to the market of other sales in the area.

Q: But you don't have any other sales from 2009, right?

A: No, I don't. Not comparable to the subject, no.

(R. p. 55, lines 1-22)

Cheslak testified that he could have used the sales price, but chose not to do so. His approach is contrary to the language of §12-37-930. He did not accord substantial weight to the purchase price of the property. He did not overcome the presumption that the price paid was the value of the property.

The purchase price is demonstrative as to value because two unrelated parties agreed to exchange the property for that value. Any party who was not involved in the transaction would have to assume or guess why the parties came to that value. As Mr. Cheslak said, an appraisal is not an exact measure of value, its purpose is to "estimate a value," and it is not an exact science. (R. p. 61, lines 23-25, p. 62, lines 18-21) South Carolina case law supports this notion by placing emphasis on hard numbers which can be verified through actual sales. Also, the purchase price is to be given "substantial weight" and to be considered "presumptive evidence" as to the value. *Belk Dept. Stores v. Taylor*, 259 S.C. 174, 179 (1972); *Mazloom v. Mazloom*, 382 S.C. 307, 322 (Ct. App. 2009). This presumption of value is supported in fact by the idea that there are considerations which are difficult for an appraiser to adjust for, like changes in market conditions between initial contracting and closing dates, and closings with rights of refusal. (R. p. 149) Cheslak admitted that the Assessor's office does not adjust for such considerations. (R. p. 149) However, the market in 2008 was much different than the market in 2009 as evidenced by lower sales prices and a much lower volume of sales which was testified to by all of Assessor's and Taxpayer's witnesses. Because of the

admitted difficulty in considering all the components that go into a sale, it is necessary to closely examine the actual number that two willing parties agreed upon.

The statute's use of the word "must" is a mandate that the property will be valued at its "true value in money" as defined in the §12-37-930. Assessor failed to value the property based upon the statute's plain reading after admitting that the factors in the statute were present in the sale of the subject property. Although the statute's meaning is clear under its plain reading, if a substantial doubt exists it should be resolved in Taxpayer's favor. "It is a well-established rule of construction that a tax statute is not to be extended beyond the clear import of its language, and that any substantial doubt as to its meaning should be resolved against the government and in favor of the taxpayer." *Beard v. South Carolina Tax Comm'n*, 230 S.C. 357, 367 (1956).

2. **The Order's Conclusions of Law 13 and 14 incorrectly rely on Respondent's interpretation of *In Re Cable & Wireless USA, Inc.*, 331 B.R. 568 (Bankr. D. Dela. 2005) and *Lake County Assessor v. U.S. Steel Corporation*, 901 N.E.2d 85 (Ind. Tax Ct. 2009).**

After Cheslak testified that he had no reason to believe the buyer and seller were not willing participants in the transaction, Assessor argued that bankruptcy sales do not meet the willing seller test. Assessor's legal argument is based on *In Re Cable & Wireless USA, Inc.*, 331 B.R. 568 (Bankr. D. Dela.2005). However, taken in context, the sentence Assessor relies upon shows that it was merely testimony of a Florida taxing authority's witness and was not the actual holding of the Court. The quote from *In Re Cable* upon which Assessor's argument is based states:

The sworn testimony of Stephen Barreca, presented by the Florida taxing authorities, is persuasive. He states that sales involving a bankruptcy do not meet the willing seller test because there is an element of compulsion in the sale transaction, even if it is an auction sale.

The quote is a portion of the testimony of a witness in the case. Assessor does not ask the Court to apply precedential law from the Bankruptcy Court of Delaware's ruling, rather it seeks to have the testimony of the Florida taxing authority's witness, Stephen Barreca, from that unrelated case be presented as binding authority over the assessment of vacant property in Richland County. Ironically, the judge in *In re Cable* accepted Barreca's testimony as more credible than another witness, Don Schmitt, in part because "Schmitt conceded that he never reviewed the bankruptcy cases filed on which sales he relied, including how they occurred, who was involved and what the underlying factors were at the time of the sale." *Id.* at 580. Quite similar to Schmitt's assessment (the assessment rejected by the Bankruptcy Court) in the *In re Cable* case, in the case at bar, the Assessor did not consider the underlying factors which were presented, namely: the extensive negotiations, the lengthy exposure to the market, and the nature of the parties involved—Crescent Resources had over \$1 billion in assets at the time, and the Taxpayer is a regular buyer and seller of real property. The Court should not rely on the Assessor's opinion of value for the same reason—the Assessor's witnesses testified that they failed to investigate or consider the underlying factors of the instant sale/purchase.

Likewise in *Lake County Assessor v. US Steel Corp.*, 901 N.E.2d 85 at 92 (Ind. Tax Ct. 2009), the quoted text from Assessor's paragraph 14 is preceded by the statement, "First of all, many jurisdictions ascribe to the theory that bankruptcy sales can be reliable indicators of property value." In *Lake County*, the Indiana Tax Court quoted the Oregon Tax Court's determination that, "[U]nder those circumstances the choice is not to dismiss the sales out of bankruptcy as reflecting atypical considerations, but to instead examine the transactions to see if they are reliable indicators of market value." *Id.*

Again, in the decision cited by the Assessor, the Court advises that further inquiry is required to determine whether the transaction in Bankruptcy reflected market value, and in the case *sub judice*, the Assessor did not go through the appropriate steps to examine the transaction.

Neither of the Courts in the Assessor's cited cases advise that a bankruptcy sale can be ignored. Rather, those Courts state that the sale price in a Bankruptcy sale should be considered when the circumstances surrounding the sale are considered. South Carolina case law dictates that the sales price of the property subject to assessment must be considered and is a strong indicator of the fair market value. *See Mazloom*, 283 S.C. 307 (S.C. Ct. App 2009); *Belk*, 259 S.C. 174 (1972). If the Assessor chooses to disregard the price at which the property exchanged hands, he must provide his reasoning in a thorough and complete manner that demonstrates consideration of all of the factors discovered through his investigation of the sale and assessment of the property.

Assessor made it clear that the circumstances of the sale were not examined or given consideration. Terry Fancey, Assessor's Deputy Assessor for Appraisal, testified that a bankruptcy sale places undue stimulus on a sale. (R. p. 168) When questioned about his assumption that there was undue stimulus, he admitted that he didn't know how many people showed up to the sale, but assumed that there was only one other bidder. (R. p. 168) Fancey also testified that he is not familiar with auctions, but he believed there was an obligation to sell. (R. p. 168) The Court inquired further into his understanding of bankruptcy sales:

The Court: . . . In this instance, the property sold at the bankruptcy auction for more than it would have sold for had they sold it to---

Mr. Fancey: Not knowing the full circumstances of what was—who was at the auction, how many were involved and all that, I just don't know what to say about that.

Q: Okay. And I'm just asking because it appeared that there was minimal consideration given to the purchase price in determining the fair market value for assessment purposes.

A: Our office would look at anything involving a bankruptcy or involving an auction. The reasonable question is to is it in fact a fair market transaction.

(R. p. 169, line 17-p. 170, line 6)

Fancey explained that he didn't know the full circumstances of the sale, but assumed that it was not fair market value. Taxpayer presented Assessor (and Fancey) with information regarding the prior negotiations and the procedures for the sale. The procedures for the bankruptcy sale were included in the Taxpayer's exhibits and presentation for the BoAA, but Fancey admitted he had never seen them. (R. p. 171)

Mr. Matson: Right. And you have no idea how many parties were part of this auction?

Mr. Fancey: Right. Correct.

Q: You were not aware of the prior negotiations on this property?

A: No, I was not.

Q: And the fact that the prior negotiations were less than it sold at the bankruptcy has no bearing on your—

A: The first I became aware of that was during prepping for this case.

Q: Okay. And are you aware that a bankruptcy judge could void a sale if it did not comply with the—

A: I am not aware of what the powers of a bankruptcy judge are.

(R. p. 172, lines 1-16)

Taxpayer's Exhibit 3, pages 8 and 9 set forth the bidding procedures and outline the safeguards that the sale provided for the bankrupt estate. (R. pp. 291-292) As the bidding procedures set out, Crescent had the right to reject any offer it deemed inadequate or contrary to the best interests of the Debtors and their estates. (R. p. 292) This information did not affect Assessor's decision that the sale represented fair market value because Assessor did not consider this information although it was properly presented. Not only could the Debtor reject the sale in this case, but Bankruptcy trustees have a fiduciary duty to the estate and are tasked with conserving the estate and maximizing distributions to creditors. (*See Kalyna v. Swaine (In re Accomazzo)*, 226 B.R. 426, 429 (D. Ariz. 1998) District Court sought to determine trustee's liability where it was alleged to have negligently failed to maximize the estate)

**B. Assessor's assessment uses favorable sales and information, while ignoring unfavorable sales and information, yielding its valuation system arbitrary as it does not seek the "true value in money" of the property assessed.**

Assessor's valuation of the subject property was based on two Restricted Use Appraisal Reports ("Respondent's Appraisal of Parcel 44" and "Respondent's Appraisal of Parcel 34") performed by Mark Cheslak, Commercial Appraisal Supervisor for Richland County Assessor's Office—one for each tax parcel that makes up the subject property. Assessor's Appraisal of Parcel 44 relied on the Direct Sales Comparison

approach which used four sales of outparcels in the area. None of the sales used in the Assessor's Appraisal of Parcel 44 occurred in the year of valuation, 2009; three occurred in 2008 and one occurred in 2010. (R. pp. 33-36) Assessor's Appraisal of Parcel 34 likewise relied on the Direct Sales Comparison approach, this time utilizing sales of three larger parcels in the area, which all sold at least one year prior to the subject property. (R. p. 127)

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