THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001683

Trial Court Case No. 12-ALJ-17-0343-CC

Richland County Assessor,Respondent,

v.

James M. Hull, d/b/a Hull Storey Gibson Companies, LLC,Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John M. S. Hoefler
Willoughby & Hoefler, P.A.
Post Office Box 8416
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-8416
jhoefler@willoughbyhoefler.com

Malane S. Pike
Post Office Box 729
White Rock, SC 29177
pikemal@gmail.com

Attorneys for Respondent
Richland County Assessor

RECEIVED
NOV 27 2013
SC Court of Appeals

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

¹⁹ As noted above, the effect of applying Mr. Hull's unsupported adjustments to Assessor's comparables results in per acre values that do not support Taxpayer's purchase price as constituting fair market value.

II. THE ALC PROPERLY APPLIED THE PRESUMPTION THAT THE ASSESSOR'S VALUATION IS CORRECT AND PROPERLY DECLINED TO GIVE WEIGHT TO TAXPAYER'S PURCHASE PRICE OF THE PROPERTY AT A BANKRUPTCY AUCTION.

A. The ALC's finding that the purchase price of Taxpayer's property was not an indicator of value was proper and is supported by substantial evidence of the record.

Taxpayer contends that the ALC should have applied a presumption that the sales price was the fair market value of the subject property pursuant to §12-37-930, based on *Belk* and *Mazloom, supra*. Br. of App. at 16-17. Thus, Taxpayer asserts, the ALC's acceptance of the Assessor's valuation was "arbitrary and not based in law." *Id.* Taxpayer's arguments in this regard are without merit.

As previously discussed, the holding in *Mazloom* relied upon by Taxpayer ("[t]he price paid for property at an actual, voluntary, and *bona fide* sale thereof is presumptive evidence of the property's value," 382 S.C. at 322, 675 S.E.2d at 754) cannot apply here because it dealt with the sale of a business, not real property, in an arm's-length transaction, and not a bankruptcy auction as is present in the instant case. Accordingly, the presumption described in *Mazloom* is not applicable. As also previously discussed, the holding in *Belk* is likewise inapplicable since it involved the undisputed cost of merchandise acquired by a retailer in a commercial transaction which was not the result of compulsion and which reflected a value at which the merchant admitted he would not sell the property below.

By contrast, *Smith v. Newberry County Assessor, supra*, squarely addresses the issue of how the ALC should treat the purchase price of **real property** in determining fair market value. The *Smith* court held that while the purchase price of real property is some evidence of its fair market value, it is not conclusive. *Id.*, 350 S.C at 579, 567 S.E.2d at 505. Thus, the *Smith* Court

concluded that “the ALC was not bound by the price paid by [the taxpayers] in arriving at a valuation.” *Id.* In so doing, the Court noted that the purchase price paid was higher due to sentimental value placed on the property by the owners and that the owners had made decisions about the property “which would not be normal in the marketplace” because the owners were “not concerned with the investment value of the property.” *Id.* Assessor submits that *Smith* clearly supports the ALC’s decision in this case given that a bankruptcy auction can hardly be called “normal” in the commercial real estate marketplace. Furthermore, the evidence before the ALC was that the purchase price paid by Taxpayer for Parcel 34 and Parcel 44 at a bankruptcy auction was less than half of the price paid in comparable sales within the immediate vicinity of the subject after application of an adjustment for market conditions. [R. ___, Tr. p. 16, ll. 11-25; R. ___, p. 17, line 1.] And, again, Taxpayer’s own adjustments to Assessor’s comparable sales and the addition of his 2003 and 2006 comparable sales could not result in a valuation estimate as low as the purchase price paid by Taxpayer. [R. ___, Taxpayer Hrg. Ex. 1.]

Given the foregoing, the ALC’s determination is consistent with the substantial evidence on the record and correctly did not apply a presumption that the purchase price paid by Taxpayer conclusively established fair market value.

B. The ALC Correctly Determined that the Burden of Proof Was on the Assessor to Prove the Value it Asserted, but also that Assessor’s Value was Entitled to a Presumption of Correctness.

Taxpayer acknowledges that the Assessor’s value is entitled to a presumption of correctness, however, it alleges that the presumption was overcome because BOAA ruled in favor of Taxpayer. Therefore, Taxpayer asserts that the Assessor’s presumption of correctness could not apply in the *de novo* review of the matter conducted by the ALC in the contested case. *See* Br. of App. at 17-18. Thus, Taxpayer takes issue with the ALC’s conclusion of law number

10. As a matter of law, Taxpayer's assertion in this regard is incorrect. Moreover, Assessor submits that even absent the application of this presumption of correctness, the substantial evidence of record demonstrates that the result would not have been different, and Taxpayer's substantive rights have therefore not been prejudiced.

A presumption imposes on the party against whom it is directed the burden of going forward with evidence to rebut or meet the presumption, but does not shift to such party the burden of proof in the sense of the risk of non-persuasion, which remains throughout the trial upon the party on whom it was originally cast. *See* Rule 301, S.C.R.E.; *Long v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Co.*, 228 S.C. 498, 90 S.E.2d 915 (1950); *Ford v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.*, 1696 S.C. 41, 168 SE. 143 (1932). In a contested case before the ALC, the party contesting the decision of a county board of assessment appeal has the burden of proof (i.e., the burden of persuasion). Here, the Assessor requested the contested hearing, and therefore the burden of proving the correctness of the valuation it asserted was on the Assessor. *See Reliance Ins. Co. v. Smith*, 327 S.C.528, 489 S.E.2d 674 (1997) (holding, *inter alia*, that although an assessor bears the burden of proof to support its valuation, an assessor does not bear the burden of proving a BOAA valuation was incorrect). The ALC's order correctly reflects this. [R.____, Order at 5, para.4.] However, the fact that the Assessor bears this burden does not deprive the Assessor of the benefit of the presumption that his valuation is correct -- regardless of the decision of BOAA. *See S.C. Tax Comm'n v. S.C. Tax Bd. of Review*, 278 S.C. 556, 562, 299 S.E.2d 489, 492-93 (1983); 84 C.J.S. Taxation §521 (2010). The holding in *Reliance v. Smith* is only logical since the ALC is not sitting in an appellate capacity and is not restricted to a review of the decision below. Instead, the proceeding before the ALC is in the nature of a *de novo* hearing. *Reliance Ins. Co.*, 327 S.C. at 534, 489 S.E.2d at 677. Thus, in a contested case hearing before the ALC,

the case is being tried as though there were no proceeding before the BOAA. Rule 29 (c) of the Rules of Procedure for the Administrative Law Court require that the ALC make independent findings of fact in contested case hearings, and the Administrative Procedures Act clearly contemplates that the ALJ will make her own findings of fact in a contested case hearing. See S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-320(G) and (I) (Supp. 2011) and S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-350 (2005). Therefore, the presumption in favor of Assessor's value remains in place and the Taxpayer bears the burden of going forward with evidence to rebut the Assessor's valuation. "Ordinarily, this will be done by proving the actual value of the property. The taxpayer may, however, show by other evidence that the assessing authority's valuation is incorrect. If he does so, the presumption of correctness is then removed and the taxpayer is entitled to appropriate relief." *Cloyd v. Mabry*, 295 S.C. at 88-89, 367 S.E.2d at 173 .

Here, Assessor presented an appraisal of the subject properties prepared by a licensed appraiser and supported by comparable sales within the immediate vicinity of both subjects and close in time to the statutory valuation date. Its appraisal showed that the purchase price was not the fair market value of the subjects. [R. ___, Assessor Hrg. Ex. 1; R. ___, Assessor Hrg. Ex. 2.] Moreover, this appraisal was reviewed by another licensed appraiser who concurred in the result. [R. ___, Assessor Hrg. Ex. 3; R. ___, Assessor Hrg. Ex. 4; R. ___, Tr. p. 57, ll.8-14.] In contrast, Taxpayer did not submit an appraisal of the property but relied principally upon adjustments to Assessor's comparable sales, two older comparable sales selected by Taxpayer, and the purchase price as its evidence of fair market value. [R. ___, Tr. p. 109, ll. 20-25; R. ___, Tr. p. 110, ll. 1-12; R. ___, Tr. p. 122, ll. 20-24.] As noted above, while the purchase price of property is some evidence of value, it is not conclusive. See *Smith v. Newberry County Assessor, supra*. Thus, in viewing the record as a whole, the ALC would have reached the same conclusion in this case

regardless of any presumption afforded Assessor's valuation because the Appellant did not put forth sufficient evidence of fair market value. In other words, Taxpayer's substantive rights could not have been prejudiced. *Cf.* §1-23-610(b). Nonetheless, the ALC followed the proper procedure and properly allocated the burden of proof during the contested case hearing, and its decision that the Assessor's value is the fair market value is clearly supported by substantial evidence. *Reliance v. Smith, supra*. Therefore, no error of law exists and Taxpayer's contention otherwise is without merit.

C. Taxpayer presented no independent evidence of fair market value of the subject parcels.

Taxpayer asserts that it produced valuation evidence that was supported by comparable sales, equitability of assessments, and an arm's length sales price through the testimony of its witness James Hull. *See* Br. of App., pp. 18-20. Thus, Taxpayer contends, its evidence did more than simply dispute the Assessor's value and the ALC therefore erred in relying upon *Lewis v. Lewis*, 392 S.C. 381, 709 S.E.2d 650 (2011) to conclude otherwise. *See* Br. of App., p. 19___. Assessor disagrees.

As already noted, Mr. Hull is not a licensed appraiser. [R.____, Tr., p. 112, ll. 9-11.]²⁰ Further, Mr. Hull's "appraisal" consisted of nothing more than taking the Assessor's comparable sales and making adjustments for which he had no market data and adding as comparables a

²⁰ In fact, this witness indicated that he surrendered his license to appraise real estate issued in another state because of "licensing standards, continuing education standards." [R. , Tr. p.112, ll. 5-11.] Further, it is interesting to note that Taxpayer does not characterize Mr. Hull's testimony exhibits as an appraisal (*cf.* S.C. Code Ann. §40-60-30) (2011), suggesting only that Mr. Hull's work experience somehow equates his personal opinion of value with an actual appraisal. In that same vein, Taxpayer suggests that the appraisal performed by Assessor's licensed appraiser and reviewed by another of Assessor's licensed appraisers should be given no greater weight than the Mr. Hull's opinion because Assessor's appraisers were not "third-party appraiser[s]." Br. of App. at 19-20. Assessor would note that Mr. Hull is well-versed in the use of appraisers to testify regarding the valuation of real property subject to ad valorem taxation (*see Hull v. Spartanburg County Assessor, supra*) and his choice to not employ a licensed appraiser cannot, therefore, constitute a basis upon which his opinion should be accorded greater weight than that to which it is entitled under *Lewis, supra* -- which is none.

2003 sale and a 2006 sale – which sales reflected purchase prices below those established using the Taxpayer’s purchase price for the properties. [R. ____, Order at 9, para. 19; R. ____, Tr., p. 110, ll. 8-12; R. ____, Taxpayer Hrg. Ex. 1). Further, and as noted by one of the Assessor’s witnesses, the evidence presented by Taxpayer would not be considered reliable evidence of value by any recognized appraisal authority. [R. ____, Tr. p. 53, ll. 9-17, R. ____, Tr. p. 133, ll. 13-23.] This fact was acknowledged by Taxpayer’s witness. [R. ____, Tr. p. 107, 5-6.] Assessor submits that, at best, Taxpayer’s reliance on the purchase price is the type of self-interested “superficial presentation for a substantially lower value” and his “appraisal” constitutes an “approach [to] valuation ...challenging the appraiser[s] valuation” that characterizes the “cursory valuation evidence” that is “focused almost exclusively on disputing the appraiser’s value” proscribed by *Lewis, supra*. The ALC did not, therefore, err in this regard.

III. THE ASSESSABLE TRANSFER OF INTEREST EXCEPTION TO THE REASSESSMENT CAP PROVIDED FOR IN S.C. CODE ANN. §12-37-3140(B) DOES NOT VIOLATE ARTICLE X, SECTION 1 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION.

Taxpayer purports to raise the issue of whether the assessable transfer of interest exception to the reassessment cap provided for in §12-37-3140 violates S.C. Const. art. X, §1 *See* Br. of App at 20. This issue was not addressed in the ALC’s order, which is understandable given that a facial constitutionality issue could not have been properly raised and ruled upon by the ALC as it has no power to address a facial challenge to the constitutionality of a statute. *Travelscape, LLC v. DOR, supra*, 391 S.C. at 108-109, 705 S.E.2d at 38-39. Facial challenges to the constitutionality of a statute may, however, be brought before the circuit court in a declaratory judgment action or for the first time in an appeal. *Id.* Nonetheless, for the reasons discussed below, Assessor submits that this issue does not involve a facial challenge, but an as-

applied challenge that is unpreserved for review in this Court. Alternatively, assuming this Court finds this issue to involve a facial challenge, Assessor submits that the Court should either not consider the facial challenge sought to be raised by Taxpayer or find it to be without merit.

A. Taxpayer's Constitutional Challenge is Not Preserved.

Although presented as a facial challenge (“the assessable transfer of interest exemption (*sic*) to the reassessment cap violates the South Carolina Constitution, Br. of App. at 20), Taxpayer is actually complaining about the application to Taxpayer’s property of one provision of a single subsection of the statute. Specifically, Taxpayer is complaining about the application of §12-37-3140(B), which excludes from the 15% cap on reassessments of property a reassessed value arising out of an ATI. As noted in *Travelscape, supra*, a constitutional challenge that does not assert that a statute is unconstitutional in all of its applications is an as-applied challenge. *Id.*, 391 S.C. at 109, 705 S.E.2d at 39, n.11. Here, the statutory provision about which Taxpayer complains not only excepts from the 15% cap increases in value arising out of an ATI, but also increases in “the fair market value of additions and improvements to real property.” Taxpayer is only complaining about the former and is therefore not complaining that the statute is unconstitutional in all of its applications. Further, Taxpayer asks that this Court “find ...that the Administrative Law Court’s valuation did not follow the mandates of equal and uniform assessment in accordance with the South Carolina Constitution.” Br. of App. at 22-23. Accordingly, Assessor submits that Taxpayer is complaining about the application of the statute solely in the context of the valuation of Taxpayer’s property as an ATI. Because this claim is an as-applied constitutional challenge for each of the foregoing reasons, which is an issue that was neither raised by Taxpayer nor ruled upon by the ALC, it is not preserved for appellate review

and should therefore not be considered by this Court. *Travelscape, supra*, 391 S.C. at 109-100, 705 S.E.2d at 39.

B. Even If Taxpayer Has Presented a Facial Constitutional Challenge In This Appeal, It Should Not Be Considered.

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